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The directors present their report, together with the consolidated financial statements of Envien 

International Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), for the year ended 31 December 2019. 

 

Board of directors 

 

Robert Spišák 

Thomas Jacobsen 

Štefan Tóth  

 

Principal activities 

 

The principal activities of the Group are largely the acquisition, development, operation and management 
of biofuel (production) and trading with related agricultural commodities. The Group is one of the biggest 
biofuel producers (producing both bioethanol and biodiesel) within the European Union, having its core 
activities and markets in Slovakia, Czechia, Hungary, Croatia and Switzerland.   

 

Biofuels Group at glance 

 
Biofuels Group is a group of 12 companies (2 investment companies, 7 production plants, 3 business 
trading) from 6 different countries.  
 
The Group operates in Central and Eastern Europe. The Group is one of the largest and most significant 
groups of companies in the CEE region active in the production of biofuels, used in mixtures with 
conventional diesel and gasoline.  
 

Key activities 

 

• chemical industry sector; and 

• sector of production of electricity. 
 
 

Main goals of Biofuels Group 

 

• production of high-quality biofuels; 

• innovative biofuel technologies;  

• production of green energy (electricity and heat made from renewable sources);  

• corporate social responsibility (support of ecology, health care, education, sports, culture); and 

• responsible relationship and communication with shareholders, business partners, employees and 

government. 

 

Review of business development and financial position 

 

The financial position at 31 December 2019, as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position as at that 
date, reflects a healthy state of affairs. The result of the Group´s operations are set out in the Statement of 
Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income.  
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Future developments 

The directors continue to place emphasis on improving operating efficiency of the Group and mitigating risk 
exposure arising from commodity markets. 

 

Risk strategy and risk policy 
 

The directors are required to take appropriate measures, in particular the creation of a monitoring system, 
to ensure that developments which could threaten the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern 
are identified at an early stage. 
Existing risks are systematically recognised, analysed and evaluated. All organisational units and processes 
are based so that all risks are identified, evaluated and communicated. The risk monitoring is adjusted 
according to the changing external environment and the resulting internal organisation structures on an 
ongoing basis. 
The Group´s risks were categorised under the following opportunity and risks factors: market and sales, 
market and purchases, environment, production and technology, tax and commercial law, finance, human 
resources and other. 

 

Events after the reporting date 
 

In late 2019, news first appeared in China regarding the SARS-CoV-2 virus pandemic, which is causing 
COVID-19. In the first months of 2020, the virus started to spread globally and caused extensive economic 
damage. The group reacted swiftly to the sharp increase in demand for disinfectants and in a very short 
period redirected a substantial part of bioethanol production to the disinfection sector. Therefore, 
significantly contributing to announced emergency measures to prevent the spread of the virus pandemic, 
including humanitarian aid. 

The Group's management will continue to monitor the potential impact of a viral pandemic and will take all 
possible measures to mitigate any future effects on the Group and its employees. The current situation does 
not have a significant impact on the business activities and does not have any effect on the going concern 
assumption.  

 
In July 2020, the General Meeting approved a reduction in the share capital of Ethanol Energy, a.s. from 
1,014,974 thousands CZK to 847,928 thousands CZK. 

 

Dividends and reserves 
 

During the year under review, the Group declared and distributed a net dividend of euro 13,184,844 
(2018: euro 3,572,427).  
 

The movements in reserves are set out in the Statement of Changes in Equity.  
 

Approved by the Board of Directors on 18 September 2020. 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Robert Spišák           Štefan Tóth                                   Thomas Jacobsen 

Director                    Director                  Director 

 

Registered Office 

The Hub 

Suite No W203, 

Triq Sant´ Andrija, 

San Gwann, 

Malta 
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Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 

The Companies Act, 1995 (Chapter 386 of the Laws of Malta) (the “Act”) requires the directors of Envien 
International Limited (the “Company”) to prepare consolidated financial statements for each financial 
period which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group of which the Company is the 
parent (the “Group”) as at the end of the financial period and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period 
in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

 

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy, at any time, the financial position of the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Act.   

 

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 

The directors are responsible to ensure that the Company establishes and maintains internal control to 
provide reasonable assurance with regard to reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency 
of operations and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

 

The directors are responsible to establish a control environment and maintain policies and procedures to 
assist in achieving the objective of ensuring, as far as possible, the orderly and efficient conduct of the 
Group’s business.  This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining controls pertaining to the 
Company’s objective of preparing financial statements as required by the Act and managing risks that may 
give rise to material misstatements in those financial statements.  In determining which controls to 
implement to prevent and detect fraud, the directors consider the risks that the financial statements may 
be materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Robert Spišák           Štefan Tóth                               Thomas Jacobsen 

Director                    Director                 Director

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Envien International Limited     Consolidated financial statements 2019 

Compliance Statement 

for the year ended 31 December 2019 

 

4 

 

 

Authorization and statements of compliance 

 

Envien International Limited and its subsidiaries consider themselves obligated to act in an economically, 
socially and environmentally conscious manner. These companies strive to conduct their business in a 
competent and ethical manner on all markets and to protect fair competition by adhering to the applicable 
laws regarding cartels, competition, restriction of competition etc. 

 

• Company´s management has set the goal of adherence to ethical standards and the creation of a 
working climate which promotes integrity, respect and fair behaviour. A corporate policy which 
adheres strictly to laws and policies serves the interests of the Company in the long run. 

 
These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 18 September 2020. 
 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the previous period were approved by the Board of 
Directors during the Annual General Meeting held on 17 September 2019. 
 
These consolidated financial statements are placed at the Company’s registered address in San Gwann and 
submitted to the Malta Business Registry. 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
  

in thousands of euro Note 2019 2018

Revenues 6 504,452       416,295       

Other operating income 7 3,343           2,543           

Change in work in progress and finished goods 5,758           (1,077)          

Cost of materials and services

Raw materials, consumables and energies 8 (418,441)      (351,982)      

Purchased services 8 (18,044)        (13,392)        

Personnel expenses 9 (13,447)        (11,172)        

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 13, 14, 15 (14,796)        (9,696)          

Other operating expenses 10 (11,609)        (7,992)          

Operating profit 37,216         23,527         

Finance income 11 1,154           530              

Finance costs 11 (4,032)          (1,313)          

Net finance costs (2,878)          (783)            

Share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investees, net of tax 16 1,750           (2,079)          

Profit before income tax 36,088         20,665         

Income tax expense 12 (5,039)          (2,272)          

Profit for the year 31,049         18,393         

Other comprehensive income

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Foreign operations - foreign currency translation differences 89               (85)              

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 89               (85)              

Total comprehensive income for the year 31,138         18,308         

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company 26,407         13,703         

Non-controlling interests 22 4,642           4,690           

31,049         18,393         

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 26,496         13,618         

Non-controlling interests 4,642           4,690           

31,138         18,308         
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in thousands of euro Note 2019 2018

Assets

Intangible assets and goodwill 13 2,803           3,904           

Property, plant and equipment 14 60,862         68,595         

Right-of-use assets 15 9,409           -                  

Deferred tax assets 27 78               4                 

Equity-accounted investees 16 11,042         9,292           

Other non-current financial assets 17 1,484           512              

Total Non-current assets 85,678         82,307         

Inventories 18 75,681         62,502         

Trade and other receivables 19 65,318         58,639         

Other current assets 20 16,402         5,431           

Current tax assets 824              2,888           

Cash and cash equivalents 21 62,437         38,115         

Total Current assets 220,662       167,575       

Total assets 306,340       249,882       

Equity

Share capital 22 (6,000)          (6,000)          

Capital contributions 22 (19,689)        (19,689)        

Translation reserve 22 1,981           2,070           

Legal reserve 22 (19,148)        (4,096)          

Retained earnings 22 (67,980)        (69,631)        

Equity attributable to owners of the Company (110,836)      (97,346)        

Non-controlling interests (23,538)        (22,646)        

Total equity (134,374)      (119,992)      

Liabilities

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 23 (12,131)        (799)            

Deferred investments grants 24 (1,449)          (1,627)          

Other non-current liabilities (98)              (75)              

Deferred tax liabilities 27 (3,430)          (3,362)          

Total Non-current liabilities (17,108)        (5,863)          

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 23 (89,842)        (76,675)        

Deferred investment grants 24 (179)            (186)            

Trade and other payables 25 (41,524)        (26,298)        

Current tax liabilities (3,403)          (788)            

Other current liabilities 26 (19,910)        (20,080)        

Total Current liabilities (154,858)      (124,027)      

Total liabilities (171,966)      (129,890)      

Total equity and liabilities (306,340)      (249,882)      
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

The financial statements on pages 5 to 49 were approved and authorised for issues by the Board of Directors 

on 18 September 2020 and were signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

 

 

Robert Spišák           Štefan Tóth                                  Thomas Jacobsen  
Director                    Director  Director
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Note
Share 

capital

Capital 

contributions

Translation 

reserve

Legal 

reserve

Retained 

earnings
Total

Non-

controlling 

interests

Total equity

Balance as of 1 January 2018 6,000  19,689        (1,985)     4,081  59,472  87,257   17,956     105,213  

Total comprehensive income

Profit for the year -         -                 -              -         13,703  13,703   4,690      18,393    

Other movements -         -                 -              -         28         28         -             28          

Other comprehensive income 

Foreign operations - foreign currency translation differences -         -                 (85)          -         -           (85)        -             (85)         

Total comprehensive income -         -                 (85)          -         13,731  13,646   4,690      18,336    

Transactions with owners of the Company recognised directly in equity

Creation of reserves and funds -         -                 -              15       -           15         -             15          

Dividends 20 -         -                 -              -         (3,572)   (3,572)   -             (3,572)    

Total transactions with owners of the Company -         -                 -              15       (3,572)   (3,557)   -             (3,557)    

Balance as of 31 December 2018 6,000  19,689        (2,070)     4,096  69,631  97,346   22,646     119,992  

Balance as of 1 January 2019 6,000  19,689        (2,070)     4,096  69,631  97,346   22,646     119,992  

Total comprehensive income 

Creation of reserves and funds -         -                 -              15,128 (15,128) -            -             -            

Profit for the year -         -                 -              -         26,407  26,407   4,642      31,049    

Other movements -         -                 -              (76)      76         -            -             -            

Other comprehensive income

Foreign operations - foreign currency translation differences -         -                 89           -         179       268       -             268        

Total comprehensive income -         -                 89           15,052 11,534  26,675   4,642      31,317    

Transactions with owners of the Company recognised directly in equity

Creation of reserves and funds -         -                 -              -         -           -            -             -            

Dividends 20 -         -                 -              -         (13,185) (13,185)  -             (13,185)  

Total transactions with owners of the Company -         -                 -              -         (13,185) (13,185)  -             (13,185)  

Dividends to outside the reporting Group (3,750)     (3,750)    

Balance as of 31 December 2019 6,000  19,689        (1,981)     19,148 67,980  110,836 23,538     134,374  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statement.
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In thousands of euro 

Note 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year 31,049        18,393        

Adjustments for:

Income tax expense 12 5,039          2,272          

Finance income 11 (1,154)         (530)            

Finance expense 11 4,032          1,313          

Depreciation and amortisation 13, 14, 22 14,796        9,696          

(Gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment 7 (38)              (45)              

Impairment loss on trade receivables 19 -                  8                 

Other (1,784)         (607)            

Share of profit/(loss) of equity - accounted investees 16 (1,750)         2,079          

Operating profit before changes in working capital items 50,190        32,579        

Changes in:

Inventories 18 (13,180)       2,303          

Trade and other receivables 19 (16,944)       (3,998)         

Trade and other payables 25 22,081        (17,512)       

Deferred investment grants 27 (185)            (344)            

Cash generated from operating activities 41,962        13,028        

Interest paid 11 (766)            (1,313)         

Interest received 11 211             530             

Income tax paid 12 (1,014)         (7,953)         

Net cash from operating activities 40,393        4,292          

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of intangible assets 13 (534)            (376)            

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 14 (4,707)         (3,561)         

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 38               75               

Net cash used in investing activities (5,203)         (3,862)         

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid on lease liabilities (92)              -                  

Repayment of lease liabilites (9,489)         -                  

Repayment of loans and borrowings 23 5,394          (127)            

Dividends paid 22 (16,935)       (3,572)         

Net cash used in financing activities (21,122)       (3,699)         

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 14,068        (3,269)         

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 21 (36,226)       (32,957)       
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 21 (22,158)       (36,226)        

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. Reporting entity 
 

Envien International Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company domiciled and incorporated in 
Malta, whose registered address is situated at The Hub, Suite No. W203, Triq Sant´ Andrija, San Gwann. 

 
The Company is the parent of a Multinational Enterprise group, consisting of eleven legal entities operating 
in the biofuel industry (chemical industry sector) in Central and Eastern Europe (CEE). Following the 
restructuring of the direct and indirect shareholdings of the ultimate beneficiary owners in the various 
entities, the Company was established on 21 December 2012 to create a centralised investment platform to 
its ultimate shareholders and to supervise, manage and finance the operations of its subsidiaries. As from 5 
November 2013, the Company held directly or indirectly shares in nine companies: ENVIRAL, a. s., ENAGRO, 
a. s., MEROCO, a. s., Pol’noservis, a.s., ROSSI BIOFUEL Zrt., ENVI GORIVA d.d., BIODIZEL VUKOVAR d.o.o., and 
Ethanol Energy, a. s., and ENVIEN Magyarorszag kft., together constituting the Envien Group (the “Group”).   
 
On 4 April 2012 the Group acquired 50% of the company Ethanol Energy a.s. (registered in the Czech 
Republic) and recognised it as a jointly-controlled entity using the equity method of accounting. 
 
On 10 January 2017, the intragroup subsidiary Pol’noservis, a.s. (registered in the Slovak Republic) bought 
100% shares in BPS Hubice, s. r. o. (registered in the Slovak Republic). This company is headquartered in 
the city Leopoldov. The main business activities of BPS Hubice, s. r. o. are the production and supply of 
electricity, heat production and heat distribution (sector of production of electricity). Electricity and heat 
are produced as organic–green products. The production takes place in the city Hubice. Its capacity per year 
is 6,000 MWh and 5,500 MWh. This company is a small business entity with sales 151 thousand euro, net 
assets of 1,059 thousand euro and has 3 employees.  
 
On 6 June 2018, the parent company Envien International Limited (registered in Malta) has set up a new 
company Envien Trading SA (registered in the Swiss Confederation). This company is headquartered in 
Geneva. The main business activities of Envien Trading SA is business trading in raw materials and products 
of refineries as biofuel, oil or their derivatives.  
 
As at 31 December 2019, the Group consists of twelve companies. 
 
The ultimate beneficial owners retained substantively the same percentage ownership in the Group, before 
and after the common control transaction effected during 2012 (see note 3.1). The Company’s ultimate 
beneficial owner as at the reporting date was Mr. Ján Sabol. 
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The table below lists the Group entities within the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the 
Company shareholding as at 31 December 2019: 

 

and heat

Trading

company

100%

ENVIEN

Magyarország

Kft.

Hungary

Fehértó Vukovar

Production

of biodiesel

100%

ENVI 

GORIVA

D.D.

Croatia

Vukovar

Holding

company

100%

BIODIZEL

VUKOVAR

d.d.o.

Croatia

Geneva

Trading 

company

100%

Ethanol

Energy, 

a.s.

Czechia 

Vrdy

Production

of bioethanol

50%

Envien 

Trading 

SA

Switzerland

of electricity

100%

Envien International Limited                        

Malta

ROSSI 

BIOFUEL

Zrt.

Hungary

Komárom

Production

of biodiesel

75%

BPS HUBICE,

s.r.o.

Slovakia

Leopoldov

Production  

company

100%

Poľnoservis

a.s. 

Slovakia

Leopoldov

Production

of rape seed

oil

61%

ENAGRO

a.s.

Slovakia

Leopoldov

Trading

ENVIRAL,

a.s.

Slovakia

Leopoldov

Production

of bioethanol

100%

MEROCO,

a.s.

Slovakia

Leopoldov

Production

of biodiesel

75%

 
 

Basic information about production companies  

 

Country Slovakia
City Leopoldov
Production of bioethanol
Production capacity per year 169,000 m

3

Number of employees 194

Name of the company ENVIRAL, a.s.

 

Country Slovakia
City Leopoldov
Production of biodiesel
Production capacity per year 111,000 t
Number of employees 46

Name of the company MEROCO, a.s.
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Country Slovakia
City Leopoldov
Production of rape seed oil
Production capacity per year 101,000 t
Number of employees 35

Name of the company Pol'noservis, a.s.

 

Country Hungary
City Komárno
Production of biodiesel
Production capacity per year 167,000 t
Number of employees 56

ROSSI 

BIOFUEL Zrt.
Name of the company

 

Country Croatia
City Vukovar
Production of biodiesel
Production capacity per year 35,000 t
Number of employees 2

BIODIZEL 

VUKOVAR d.o.o.
Name of the company

 

Country Czechia
City Vrdy
Production of bioethanol

Production capacity per year 71,000 m
3

Number of employees 67

Ethanol Energy, 

a.s.
Name of the company

 

Country Slovakia
City Leopoldov
Production of Electricity; heat
Production capacity per year 6,000MWh
Number of employees 3

BPS Hubice, s.r.o.Name of the company
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2. Basis for preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

2.1 Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared and presented in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 1995 (Chapter 386, Laws of Malta) (The “Act”). All references in these financial 
statements to IAS, IFRS or SIC / IFRIC interpretations refer to those adopted by the EU.  
 

These consolidated financial statements include the operations of all Group entities for the period from 1 January 

to 31 December 2019. The comparative period of consolidated financial statements is from 1 January to 31 

December 2018.  
 

All companies included in the consolidated financial statements have the calendar year as their financial year. 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the going concern assumption. 
 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 September 
2020. 

2.2 Consolidation principles 

Consolidated entities 

Consolidated entities are disclosed in Note 1 to these consolidated financial statements. The consolidated 
financial statements seek to portray the consolidated entities as if they represented a single consolidated interest. 
As such, assets and liabilities of these entities have been fully consolidated for the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements. Controlled subsidiaries, non-controlling interests in subsidiaries controlled by 
the consolidating entities, foreign operations and income taxes are accounted in the same manner as if these 
were consolidated financial statements. 
 

Transactions eliminated through combination 

Intra-group balances and transactions, as well as unrealised gains resulting from intra-group transactions, are 

eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 

SK; 22,796

HU; 3,688CRO; 3,931

CZ; 19,874

CH; 87

Envien International Limited 
Share Capital by Country                                  

(in thousands of euro)
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2.3 Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for derivative financial 

instruments, which are measured at fair value. This is the first set of the Group´s annual financial statements in 

which IFRS 16 Leases have been applied.  

2.4 Functional currency and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, since the major portion of Group transactions are 

denominated in this currency. This currency represents the functional currency of all Group companies, except 

BIODIZEL VUKOVAR d. o. o. (“BIODIZEL”) and ENVI GORIVA d. d. (“ENVI”), which have the Croatian Kuna as their 

functional currency. Due to the fact that sales and financing transactions of BIODIZEL and ENVI are denominated 

in euro, the Group incurs foreign exchange gains and losses during the year. These are converted to the Group´s 

functional currency through other comprehensive income. 
 

All financial information presented in euro has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise 

indicated. 

2.5 Changes in significant accounting policies 

The Group has adopted new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are 
mandatory for the Group´s accounting period beginning on 1 January 2019. The adoption of IFRS 16 Leases 
have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.  
 

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over income tax Treatments  

The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty that 

affects the application of IAS 12 Income Taxes. It does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of IAS 

12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain 

tax treatments. The Interpretation specifically addresses the following: 

• Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately 
• The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities 
• How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 

tax rates 
• How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances 

The Group determines whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one 

or more other uncertain tax treatments and uses the approach that better predicts the resolution of the 

uncertainty.  

The Group applies significant judgement in identifying uncertainties over income tax treatments. Since the 

Group operates in a complex multinational environment, it assessed whether the interpretation had an 

impact on its consolidated financial statements.  

Upon adoption of the Interpretation, the Group considered whether it has any uncertain tax positions, 

particularly those relating to transfer pricing. The company´s and the subsidiaries´ tax filings in different 

jurisdictions include deductions related to transfer pricing and the taxation authorities may challenge those 

tax treatments. The Group determined, based on its tax compliance and transfer pricing study, that it is 

probable that its tax treatments (including those for the subsidiaries) will be accepted by the taxation 

authorities. The Interpretation did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

   
Amendments to IFRS 9 prepayment Features with negative Compensation 
Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, provides that the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding (the SPPI criterion) and the instrument is held within the 
appropriate business model for that classification. The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that a financial asset 
passes the SPPI criterion regardless of an event or circumstance that causes the early termination of the 
contract and irrespective of which party pays or receives reasonable compensation for the early 
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termination of the contract. These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of 
the Group.  
 
Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and joint Ventures 
The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 to long-term interests in an associate of joint venture 
to which the equity method is not applied but that, in substance, form part of the net investment in the 
associate or joint venture (long-term interests). This clarification is relevant because it implies that the 
expected credit loss model in IFRS 9 applies to such long-term interests.  
The amendments also clarified that, in applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any losses of the 
associate of joint venture, or any impairment losses on the net investment, recognised as adjustments to the 
net investment in the associate or joint venture that arise from applying IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures.  
These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements as the Group does not have long-
term interests in its associate and joint venture.  
 
Amendments to IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 
The amendments to IAS 19 address the accounting when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement 
occurs during a reporting period. The amendments specify that when a plan amendment, curtailment or 
settlement occurs during the annual reporting period, an entity is required to determine the current service 
cost for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement, using the actuarial 
assumptions used to remeasure the net defined benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under 
the plan and the plan assets after that event. An entity is also required to determine the net interest for the 
remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement using the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets after that event, and the 
discount rate used to remeasure that net defined benefit liability (asset).  
The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as it did not have any 
plan amendments, curtailments, or settlements during the period.  
 
Annual IFRS Improvement Process  
• IFRS 3 Business Combinations 

The amendments clarify that, when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, it 
applies the requirements for a business combination achieved in stages, including remeasuring 
previously held interests in the assets and liabilities of the joint operation at fair value. In doing so, the 
acquirer remeasures its entire previously held interest in the joint operation.  
An entity applies those amendments to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or 
after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early 
application permitted.  
These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as there is no 
transaction where joint control is obtained.  

• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 
The entity that participates in, but does not have joint control of, a joint operation might obtain joint 
control of the joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business as defined 
in IFRS 3. The amendments clarify that the previously held interests in that joint operation are not 
remeasured.  
An entity applies those amendments to transactions in which it obtains joint control on or after the 
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early 
application permitted. These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group as there is no transaction where a joint control is obtained.  

• IAS 12 Income Taxes 
The amendments clarify that income tax consequences of dividends are linked more directly to past 
transactions or events that generated distributable profits than to distributions to owners. Therefore, 
an entity recognises the income tax consequences of dividends in profit or loss, other comprehensive 
income or equity according to where it originally recognised those past transactions or events.  
An entity applies the amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, 
with early application permitted. When the entity first applies those amendments, it applies them to the 
income tax consequences of dividends recognised on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative 
period.  
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Since the Group´s current practice is in line with these amendments, they had no impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.  

• IAS 23 Borrowing Costs, Borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation 
The amendments clarify that an entity treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing originally 
made to develop a qualifying asset when substantially all of the activities necessary to prepare that asset 
for its intended use or sale are complete.  
The entity applies the amendments to borrowing costs incurred on or after the beginning of the annual 
reporting period in which the entity first applies those amendments. An entity applies those 
amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early application 
permitted. 
Since the Group´s current practise is in line with these amendments, they had no impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.  
 

IFRS 16 Leases 
IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. The Standard eliminates the current dual 
accounting model for lessees an instead requires companies to bring most leases on the balance sheet under 
a single model, eliminating the distinction between operating and finance leases.  
 

Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. For such contracts, the new model requires a lessee 
to recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The right-of-use asset is depreciated and the liability 
accrues interest. This will result in a front-loaded pattern of expense for most leases, even when the lessee 
pays constant annual rentals.  
 

The new Standard introduces a number of limited scope exceptions for lessees which include: 
 

• leases with a lease term of 12 months of less and containing no purchase options, and 
• leases where the underlying asset has a low value (“small-ticket” leases). 
 
The discount rates applied as of the transition date are based on the Group´s marginal borrowing rate plus 
a spread to take into account the specific economic environment of each country. These discount rates are 
determined with respect to the remaining terms of leases from the date of first-time application, namely 
January 1, 2019. 
 
The Group apply IFRS 16 initially on 1 January 2019 using the modified retrospective method. Therefore, the 
cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 is recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings 
at 1 January 2019, with no restatement of comparative information. The Group recognise an additional lease 
liability and a long-term asset with a similar amount.   

The Group recognise new assets and liabilities from its operating leases. Previously, the Group recognised 
operating lease expenses on a straight-line basis over the time of the lease.  

The Group didn´t report any finance lease liability neither as of 1 January 2019 nor as of 31 December 2019., 
therefore impact of IFRS 16 relates to operating lease only.  The adoption of IFRS 16 had the following effect on 
the financial statements of the Group: increase of rights of use and increase of lease liability of EUR 8,005 
thousand (Note 15). 
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3. Significant accounting policies 
 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented in these financial 
statements.  

3.1 Basis of consolidation 

 
3.1.1 Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method, other than those acquired from 

parties under common control in which case the book value accounting is applied. The acquisition cost of a 

business combination represents the sum of the consideration transferred measured at fair value at the date of 

the acquisition, plus the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity. Any goodwill that arises is 

tested annually for impairment. The non-controlling interests are valued at the proportional share of the 

identified net assets of the acquired entity. Costs incurred in connection with the business combination are 

recognised as expense. 

 

The Group measures non-controlling interest that represents present ownership interest and entitles the holder 

to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation on a transaction by transaction basis, either at 

fair value, or the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of net assets of the acquired. Non-controlling 

interests that are not present ownership interests are measured at fair value. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at acquisition cost, less any accumulated impairment write-downs. 

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and tested for impairment losses at least annually or upon 

indication of impairment. 

 
3.1.2 Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as 

at 31 December 2019. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:  

• Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 
of the investee) 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns 

 
3.1.3 Non-controlling interest 

Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree´s identifiable net assets 
at the date of acquisition.  

 
3.1.4 Interest in equity-accounted investees 

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the 

financial and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20 percent 

and 50 percent of the voting power of another entity. Jointly controlled entities are those entities over whose 

activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement and requiring unanimous consent for 

strategic financial and operating decisions. The Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than 

rights to assets and obligations for its liabilities.  

 

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method, they are initially 

recognised at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share 

of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the 

accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence or joint control commences until 

the date that significant influence or joint control ceases. 
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When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of the 

investment, including any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of 

further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf 

of the investee. 
3.1.5 Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees are 

eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are 

eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

3.2 Foreign currency 

 
3.2.1 Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the Group’s functional currency of the Group at the 

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

are translated into functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and 

liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the 

exchange rate when the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical 

cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency 

differences are generally recognised in profit or loss and presented with finance costs.  

 
3.2.2 Foreign operations 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 

acquisition, are translated into euro at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The translation of equity 

transactions is carried out at the historical rates at the dates of the transactions. The income and expenses of 

foreign operations are translated into euro at exchange rates at the dates of transactions. Foreign currency 

differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve, except to 

the extent that are translation difference is allocated to NCI.  

 

Foreign currency gains and losses in financial assets and financial liabilities are reported on a net basis as either 

finance income or finance cost depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss 

position. 

3.3 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets purchased by the Group are measured at acquisition costs less accumulated scheduled 

amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Scheduled amortisation is recognised in profit or loss 

under the caption “Depreciation, amortisation and impairment” on a straight-line basis over the expected useful 

live of the asset. 

 

The expected useful lives of intangible assets are as follows: 

Valuable rights 4 years 

Software  3 to 5 years 

Other intangible assets (Patents for brands and licences) 4 to 5 years 

 

Amortisation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 

appropriate.  
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3.4 Property, plant and equipment 

 
3.4.1 Property, plant and equipment 

Item of property, plant and equipment are measured at acquisition or construction costs, which includes 

capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Assets 

generated internally include all costs directly attributable to the construction process as well as an appropriate 

portion of construction-related overheads. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis and 

over the expected useful lives.  

The expected useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

Buildings 20 to 40 years 

Technical equipment and machinery 6 to 20 years 

Office furniture and equipment 4 to 6 years 

Depreciation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 

appropriate.  

 
3.4.2 Leases 

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains a lease. That is, if the contract conveys 

the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.  

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases 

and leases of low value assets. The group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use 

assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.  

 

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease. Right-of-use assets are 

measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 

remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 

recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any 

lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease 

term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows: 

 

Land and buildings                                          3 to 12 years 

Motor vehicles and other equipment       3 to 5 years          

 

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise 

of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.                    

 

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. 

 

Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of 

lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments less any lease 

incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be 

paid under residual value guarantees. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are 

recognised as expenses in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.  

 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease 

commencement date because the interest implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 

commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced 

for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is measured if there is a 

modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments or a change in the assessment of an 

option to purchase the underlying asset.  
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The Group´s lease liabilities are included in long-term payables and short-term payables.  

 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and 

equipment. Is also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that 

are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are 

recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

Group as a lessor 

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risk and rewards incidental to ownership of an 

asset is classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 

terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs 

incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset 

and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as 

revenue in the period in which they are earned.  

3.5 Impairment 

 
3.5.1 Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group´s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are 

reviewed at each reporting date to determine whenever there is any indication of impairment. If there are 

indicators of impairment, a review is undertaken to determine whether the carrying amounts are in excess of 

their recoverable amounts. An asset’s recoverable amount is determined as the higher of its fair value less costs 

to sell and its value in use. Such reviews are undertaken on an asset-by-asset basis, except where assets do not 

generate cash flows independent of other assets, in which case the review is undertaken at the cash generating 

unit (“CGU”) level. 

 

If the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in 

profit or loss. 

 

An impairment loss is in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only 

to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

 
3.5.2 Impairment of financial assets 
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets that is 
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income is impaired.  
 
As a general approach, impairment losses on a financial asset or group of financial assets are recognised for 
expected credit losses at an amount equal to:  
• 12-month expected credit losses (expected credit losses that result from those default events on the 

financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date), or  
• full lifetime expected credit losses (expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over 

the life of the financial instrument).  
 

The loss allowance for financial instruments is measured at an amount equal to full lifetime expected losses if the 
credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. Unless the credit risk of 
the financial instrument is low at the reporting date in which case it can be assumed that credit risk on the 
financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition and 12-month expected credit losses 
can be applied.  
 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition 
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and 
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available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, 
based on the Group´s historical experience and informed credit assessment, including forward-looking 
information. 
 
The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset due from third party customers has increased 
significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.  
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: 
• The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the 

Company to actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or 
• The financial asset is more than 90 days past due.  
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument. The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over 
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.  
 

Measurement of ECL´s 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all 

cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Company in accordance with the contract 

and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive).  

 

ECLs are not discounted as they don´t include any significant financial component.  

 

Credit-impaired financial assets 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. 
A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.  
 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 
• Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 

• A breach of contract such as a default of being more than 90 days past due; or 

• It is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or another financial reorganisation.  
 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position  
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of 
the assets.  
 

Write-off 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable expectations of 
recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group expects no significant recovery from 
the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement 
activities in order to comply with the Group´s procedures for recovery of amounts due.  

3.6 Income tax 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  It is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent 

that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.   
 

3.6.1 Current tax 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income for the year, and any 

adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or 

receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainly related 

to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  
 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.  
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3.6.2 Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  Deferred tax is not 

recognised for: 
 

• temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and that affects neither accounting not taxable profit or loss; 

• temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associated and joint arrangements to the 

extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is 

probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

• taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 

differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be 

used.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such deductions are reviewed when the probability of future 

taxable profit improves.  
 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has 

become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which one can be used.  
 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 

reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.   
 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 

Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.   
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 

3.7 Financial instruments  

 
3.7.1 Financial assets - Classification 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 

The Group’s financial assets are classified at the time of initial recognition depending on their nature and 
purpose. To determine which measurement category a financial asset falls into, it should be first considered 
whether the financial asset is an investment in an equity instrument or a debt instrument. Equity instruments 
should be classified as fair value to profit or loss, however if the equity instrument is not held for trading, fair 
value through other comprehensive income option can be elected at initial recognition. If the financial asset is a 
debt instrument the following assessment should be considered in determining its classification.  
 

Amortised cost 
Financial instruments measured at amortised cost are those financial assets that is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of 
the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding.  
 

Fair value through other comprehensive income 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are those financial assets that are held within 
a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets 
and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  
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Fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets which are not classified in any of the 
two preceding categories or financial instruments designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through 
profit or loss.  
 
3.7.2 Financial liabilities - Classification 
By default, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, unless they are required to be measured at fair 
value through profit or loss or the entity has opted to measure a liability at fair value through profit or loss. A 
financial liability is required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss in case of liabilities that is classified 
as ‘held for trading’ and derivatives. An entity can, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial liability 
as measured at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option) where doing so results in more relevant 
information, because either:  
• it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency, or  

• the liability is part of a group of financial liabilities or financial assets and financial liabilities that is managed 
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis.   

 
3.7.3 Subsequent measurement 
Subsequent measurement depends on the classification of the given financial instrument. 
 

Amortised cost  
The asset or liability is measured at the amount recognised at initial recognition minus principal repayments, 
plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity 
amount, and any loss allowance. Interest income is calculated using the effective interest method and is 
recognised in profit and loss. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit and loss when the asset is 
derecognised or reclassified. 
 

Fair value through other comprehensive income – debt instrument  
The asset is measured at fair value. Interest revenue, impairment gains and losses, and a portion of foreign 
exchange gains and losses, are recognised in profit and loss on the same basis as for amortised cost assets. 
Changes in fair value are recognised initially in other comprehensive income. When the asset is derecognised or 
reclassified, changes in fair value previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
equity are reclassified to profit and loss on a basis that always results in an asset measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income having the same effect on profit and loss as if it were measured at amortised cost.  
 

Fair value through other comprehensive income – equity instrument 

Dividends are recognised when the entity’s right to receive payment is established, it is probable the economic 
benefits will flow to the entity and the amount can be measured reliably. Dividends are recognised in profit and 
loss unless they clearly represent recovery of a part of the cost of the investment, in which case they are included 
in other comprehensive income. Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and are 
never recycled to profit and loss, even if the asset is sold or impaired. 
 

Fair value through profit or loss 
The asset or liability is measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit and loss as they arise.  

 
3.7.4 Fair value measurement 
Fair value of instruments is determined by reference to quoted market prices at the close of business on the 
balance sheet date without any deduction for transaction costs. For investments where there is no quoted market 
price, fair value is determined by reference to the current market value of another instrument which is 
substantially the same or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the 
investment.   
 
3.7.5 Derecognition of Financial Instruments 
Derecognition of a financial asset takes place when the Group no longer controls the contractual rights that 
comprise the financial asset, which is normally the case when the instrument is sold, or all the cash flows 
attributable to the instrument are passed through to an independent third party. When the Group neither 
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transfers nor retains all the risks and rewards of the financial asset and continues to control the transferred asset, 
it recognises its retained interest in the asset and a liability for the amounts it may have to pay.  
 

A financial liability should be removed from the balance sheet when, and only when, it is extinguished, that is, 
when the obligation specified in the contract is either discharged or cancelled or expires.  

3.8 Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of acquisition or production costs and net realisable value. Net realisable 

value represents the estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and the estimated necessary 

selling costs for normal operating activities. 

Acquisition costs represent the purchase price, less purchase price deductions, plus costs incurred in order to 

bring the inventories to their present location and condition. Acquisition or production costs are determined by 

the weighted average method. 

 

Production costs comprise direct costs of materials, and, if appropriate, direct production costs and those 

overheads that are incurred in order to bring the inventories to their present location and condition. 

3.9 Investment grants and subsidies 

Investment grants and subsidies are recognised as deferred income and released to income over the average useful 

lives of the assets for which the grants and subsidies have been received. Subsidies are recognised in the statement 

of financial position if there is reasonable assurance that the relevant Group company will fulfil the conditions 

related to the granting of the subsidy and that the subsidies will be received. 

3.10 Greenhouse gas emissions 

The Group receives free emission rights as a result of the European Emission Trading Schemes. The rights for a 

pre-determined volume of greenhouse gas emissions are received on an annual basis and in return the Group is 

required to remit rights equal to its actual emissions in April of the following calendar year. The Group has 

adopted a net liability approach to the emission rights granted. Under this method the granted emission rights 

are measured at nil and a provision is only recognised when actual emissions exceed the emission rights granted. 

Where emission rights are purchased from third parties, they are recorded at cost, and treated as a 

reimbursement right. 

3.11 Provisions 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows 

at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 

to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 

3.12 Revenue and other operating income 

 
Net sales  

IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers and requires 

that revenue to be recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be 

entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.  

 

Revenue from the sale of biofuel products is recognised at a point in time when control of the product is 

transferred to the customer, which is generally when the product is physically transferred into a truck or railway 

wagon and the customer accepts the product. Consequently, the Group’s performance obligations are considered 

to relate only to the sale of biofuel product, with each delivery considered to be a separate performance obligation 

under the contractual arrangements in place. The transportation and shipping cost associated with the transfer 

of the product to the point of sale is recognised as a selling cost.  
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The products are sold based on market prices, in some cases through spot market transactions, and in other cases 

under contractual arrangements. While the transaction price is variable, at the time of delivery there is only a 

minimal risk of a change in the transaction price to be allocated to the biofuel volume sold, limited to any change 

in the final quality testing of the product relative to the forecast quality differential. Accordingly, at the point of 

sale there is not a significant risk of revenue reversal relative to the cumulative revenue recognised, and there is 

no need to constrain any variable consideration under IFRS 15. Invoices are typically paid on 30 day terms. 
 
Sales taxes  
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax (e.g. excise duty), except: 

• when the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority 

(e.g. if the entity is not subject of sales tax), in which case, the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable  

• receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included 

 
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the consolidated statement of financial position.  
 
Other operating income  
Other operating income is recognised on the same accounting policy basis as the net sales. 

3.13 Finance income and finance costs 

The Group’s finance income and finance costs include: 

• interest income; 

• interest expense; 

• the net gains or losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 

• impairment losses recognised on financial assets (other than trade receivables); and 

• the foreign currency gains and losses or financial assets and financial liabilities. 

 

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.  

3.14 Employee benefits 

The Group contributes towards the State pension defined contribution plan in accordance with legislation, and 
to which the Group has no commitment beyond the payment of fixed contributions. Obligations for contributions 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period during which services are rendered by employees.  

3.15 Standards issued but not yet effective 

Issued but not yet effective International Financial Reporting Standards and Amendments 
 
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations were in 
issue but not yet effective: 
 
• Conceptual Framework for Financial reporting, contains updated definitions and criteria of an asset 
liability, added measurement, including factors to be considered when selecting a measurement basis, 
presentation and disclosure, reporting entity, when assets and liabilities are removed from FS and also 
clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting.  (issued in 
March 2018, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020) 
• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements – Amendment regarding the sale or contribution of assets 
between an investor and its associate or joint venture (effective date is not defined; this amendment has 
not been approved by EU yet) 
• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, this standard 
has not been approved by EU yet) 
• IFRS 3 Business combination – Amendment regarding Definition of Business (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2020, these amendments have not been approved by EU yet) 
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• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendment regarding interaction of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors - Definition of Material (effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2020)  
• IFRS 9 Financial instruments – Amendments regarding interaction of IFRS 7 and IAS 39 (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020) 
 
The following new Standards and Interpretations are not yet mandatorily effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019 and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. The Group plans 
to adopt these pronouncements when they become effective.  
 
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or 
joint venture.  
(The European Commission decided to defer the endorsement indefinitely.) 
 
The Amendments clarify that in a transaction involving an associate of joint venture, the extent of gain or 
loss recognition depends on whether the assets sold or contributed constitute a business, such that:  
• a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction between an investor and its associate or joint venture 

involves the transfer of an asset or assets which constitute a business (whether it is housed in a 
subsidiary or not), while a partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction between an investor and 
its associate or joint venture involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are 
housed in a subsidiary.  

 
The Entity does not expect that the amendments, when initially applied, will have material impact on the 
financial statements. 
 
Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations  
(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020) 
These amendments are not yet endorsed by the EU.  
 

The amendments narrowed and clarified the definition of a business. They also permit a simplified 
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is a group of assets rather than a business.  
 

The Entity does not expect the Amendments to have a material impact on its financial statements when 
initially applied.  
 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors 
(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020) 
These amendments are not yet endorsed by the EU. 
 

The amendments clarify and align the definition of “material” and provide guidance to help improve 
consistency in the application of that concept whenever it is used in IFRS Standards.  
 
The above-mentioned standard and amendment are not expected to significantly impact to Group´s 
consolidated results, financial position or disclosures.  
 
Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial instruments regarding interaction of IFRS 7 and IAS 39 
(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020) 
 
The amendments modify some specific hedge accounting requirements to provide relief from potential 
effects of the uncertainty caused by the reform of benchmark interest rates, such as interbank offer rates 
(IBORs). In addition, the amendments require an entity to provide additional information to investors about 
its hedging relationships which are directly affected by any such uncertainty.  
 
The Entity does not expect the Amendments to have a material impact on its financial statements when 
initially applied.  
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4. Significant estimates and assuptions 
 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires assumptions and estimates to be made that 
affect the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities and commitments as 
of the reporting date and the presentation of expenses and income. 

 

The Group has identified the following areas as being critical to understanding its financial position as they 
require management to make complex and/or subjective judgements and estimates about matters that are 
inherently uncertain. 

 

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered 
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to 
terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.  

4.1 Taxes 

The assumptions and estimates made relate to the realisation of future tax relief. With respect to deferred taxes 
on deductible loss carry forwards, the estimates are highly dependent on the development of income. The 
estimates could therefore differ from actual amounts in later periods. Changes in the required assumptions and 
estimates are reflected in profit or loss at the time they become known. 

4.2 Impairment of non-financial assets 

The impairment calculation requires an estimate of the ‘value in use’ of the cash-generating units. Such value 
is measured based on discounted cash flows projections. The most significant variables in determining cash 
flows are discount rates, terminal values, the period for which cash flow projections are made, as well as 
the assumptions and estimates used to determine the cash inflows and outflows. Impairment loss, as well 
as reversal of impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss for the period. 

4.3 Determination of fair value of acquired businesses and identification of acquired assets and 
liabilities 

Property, plant and equipment 

The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is the estimated 

amount for which property could be exchanged on the acquisition date between a willing buyer and a willing 

seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably. 

The fair value of items of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings is based on the market approach or cost 

approaches using quoted market prices for similar items when available and depreciated replacement cost when 

appropriate. Depreciated replacement cost reflects adjustments for physical deterioration as well as functional 

and economic obsolescence. 

 

Intangible assets 

The fair value of intangible assets is based on the discounted cash flows expected to be derived from sale of the 

assets. 

 

Inventories 

The fair value of inventories acquired in a business combination is determined based on the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and sale, and a reasonable profit 

margin based on the effort required to complete and sell the inventories. 

 

Trade and other receivables 

The fair values of trade and other receivables are estimated at the present value of future cash flows, discounted 

at the market rate of interest at the measurement date. Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are 

measured at the original invoice amount if the effect of discounting is immaterial. Fair value is determined at 

initial recognition and, for disclosure purposes, at each annual reporting date. 
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Other non-derivative financial liabilities 

Other non-derivative financial liabilities are measured at fair value, at initial recognition and for disclosure 

purposes, at each annual reporting date. Fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal 

and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the measurement date. 

 

Leases 

The application of IFRS 16 requires the Group to make judgments that affect the valuation of the lease liabilities 
and valuation of right-of-use assets. These include: determining contracts in scope of IFRS 16, determining the 
contract term and determining the interest rate used for discounting of future cash flows.  

The lease term determined by the Group generally comprises non-cancellable period of lease contracts, periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option and periods 
covered by an option to terminate the lease if the Group is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. The 
same terms is applied as economic useful life of right-of-use assets. For leases with indefinite term the Group 
continuously estimates the non-cancellable period to be equal to the average or typical market contract term of 
particular type of lease.  

 
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have 
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of 
a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what 
the Group would have to pay, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when 
they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the IBR using 
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity- 
specific estimates. 
 
 

5. Business combinations 

Following its incorporation, the Company acquired 100% of ENVIRAL,a.s., 75% of MEROCO, a.s., 61% of 

Poľnoservis, a.s., 100% of ENAGRO, a.s., 75% of ROSSI BIOFUEL Zrt, 100% of ENVI GORIVA d.d., 100% BIODIZEL 

VUKOVAR d.d.o., 100% of ENVIEN Magyarország Kft., 100% of Envien Trading SA and 100 % BPS Hubice, s.r.o.  

 

 

6. Revenues from contracts with customers 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Revenue from sale of own products 408,356       373,461       

Revenue from sale of services 2,757           2,096           

Revenue from sale of goods bought for resale 93,339         40,738         

Total revenues 504,452       416,295        
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Revenues from contracts with customers at the end of the reporting period by geographic region was as follows: 

 

in thousands of euro

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Slovakia 166,287 147,286 2,757 2,096 -            36,286   169,044 185,668 

Hungary 101,348 87,532   -        -        -            1,166     101,348 88,698   

Czech Republic 39,089   41,327   -        -        -            3,286     39,089   44,613   

Swiss Confederation -            -            -        -        28,591   -            28,591   -            

Austria 34,242   35,227   -        -        34,571   -            68,813   35,227   

United Kingdom -            -            -        -        30,177   -            30,177   -            

Other countries 67,390   62,089   -        -        -            -            67,390   62,089   

Total revenues 408,356 373,461 2,757 2,096 93,339   40,738   504,452 416,295 

Own products Services TotalGoods bought 

for resale

 
 

 

7. Other operating income 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Revenues from sale of emission rights 1,280           644              

Other income 2,063           1,899           

Total other operating income 3,343           2,543            
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

- 100,000 200,000 300,000 400,000 500,000

Revenue from sale of own
products

Revenue from sale of goods
bought for resale

Revenue from sale of services

Other operating income

REVENUE from contracts with customers and other operating income 
in thousands of euro

2018 2019
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8. Costs of materials and services 
in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Material consumption 309,311       292,226       

Cost of goods bought for resale 88,561         40,337         

Energy consumption 20,569         19,419         

Raw materials, consumables and energies 418,441       351,982       

Freight and transport costs 10,326         7,546           

Repairs and maintenance 2,354           2,428           

Sewage treatment 4                 84               

Waste liquidation 100              -

Intermediary services 221              62               

Storage 1,305           703              

Other services 3,734           2,569           

Purchased services 18,044 13,392

 
 

9. Personnel expenses 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Directors´ renumeration 226              318              

Wages and salaries 9,681           7,800           

Social insurance and other costs 3,540           3,054           

Total personnel expenses 13,447         11,172          
 

The weekly average number of employees of the Group for the period January 1 to December 31, 2019 was 

367 (2018: 349).  
 
 

10. Other operating expenses 

 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Audit 88               90               

Advisory and legal services 4,235           3,079           

Rental of premises, vehicles 3,108           2,153           

Security service 266              259              

Travel and representation costs 355              273              

Insurance expense 390              397              

Irrecoverable taxes and fees 377              389              

Other expenses 2,789           1,352           

Total other operating expenses 11,608         7,992            
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11. Net financial costs 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Interest income 211              21               

Net foreign exchange gains 729              488              

Other financial income 50               21               

Derivatives 164              -                  

Total finance income 1,154           530              

Interest expense (766)            (625)            

Interest expense - lease (92)              

Net foreign exchange losses (1,054)          (515)            

Derivatives (1,307)          -                  

Other finance costs (813)            (173)            

Total finance costs (4,032)          (1,313)          

Net finance costs (2,878)          (783)             
 

 

12. Income tax expense 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Period income tax charge 5,138           2,445           

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (99)              (173)            

Total income tax expense 5,039           2,272            
 

The charge for income tax is based on the taxable profit for the year at a rate of 35 %. The income tax expense 

and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the statutory domestic income tax rate are reached as 

follows:  

 

- 50,000 100,000 150,000 200,000 250,000 300,000 350,000

Material consumption

Cost of goods bought for
resale

Energy consumption

Services

Personnel expenses

Other operating expenses

COST OF MATERIALS AND OTHER EXPENSES 
in thousands of euro

2018 2019
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

in thousands of euro 2019 % 2018 %

Profit before income taxes 36,088    20,665    

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate (12,631)  (35,00%) (7,233)    (35,00%)

Tax effect of:

Different tax rates in other countries 8,388     23.24% 4,385     21.22%

Non-deductible expenses and other items (811)       (2.25%) (276)       (1.34%)

Temporary differences not previously recognised 15          0.04% 852        4.12%

Income tax charge for the year (5,039)    (13.96%) (2,272)    (11.00%)  
 

The income tax rate applicable to the majority of the Group’s subsidiaries was 21% in the year 2019 (2018: 
21%). Other tax rates applicable to minor part of the Group’s taxable income falls within the range of 10% 
to 35% in the year 2019 (2018: 10% to 35%). A reconciliation between the expected and the actual tax 
charge is provided above.  

 

 

13. Intangible assets 

in thousands of euro
Goodwill Software

Valuable 

rights

Other 

intangible 

assets

Assets under 

construction
Total

Cost

Balance as of 1 January 2018 4,111 1,257 12,730 71 3,067 21,236

Additions - 15 - - 361 376

Disposals - (4) - - (10) (14)

Transfers - 29 - - (29) - 

Effect of exchange rate movements - - - - - - 

Balance as of 31 December 2018 4,111 1,297 12,730 71 3,389 21,598

Balance as of 1 January 2019 4,111 1,297 12,730 71 3,389 21,598

Additions - 12 - 2 520 534

Disposals - (26) - - - (26)

Transfers - 153 - - (153) - 

Balance as of 31 December 2019 4,111 1,436 12,730 73 3,756 22,106

Accumulated amortisation and 

impairment losses

Balance as of 1 January 2018 (3,773) (1,027) (12,730) (51) - (17,581)

Depreciation for the year - (115) - (3) - (118)

Disposals - 5 - - - 5

Impairment loss - - - - - - 

Balance as of  31 December 2018 (3,773) (1,137) (12,730) (54) - (17,694)

Balance as of 1 January 2019 (3,773) (1,137) (12,730) (54) - (17,694)

Depreciation for the year - (97) - - - (97)

Disposals - 26 - - 26

Impairment loss (338) - - - (1,200) (1,538)

Balance as of 31 December 2019 (4,111) (1,208) (12,730) (54) (1,200) (19,303)

Carrying amounts

Balance as of 1 January 2018 338 230 - 20 3,067 3,655

Balance as of 31 December 2018 338 160 - 17 3,389 3,904

Balance as of 1 January 2019 338 160 - 17 3,389 3,904

Balance as of 31 December 2019 - 228 - 19 2,556 2,803

  
Based on a comprehensive market and legislative analysis of the situation in the 1G and 2G bioethanol 

sectors in the EU and due to legislative developments in the biofuels sector, management decided to create 
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a 50% provision for 2G investments (2nd generation of biofuels). A provision was created in the amount of 

1,200 thousand of euro for intangible assets and 3,059 thousand of euro for tangible assets (Note 14). 

 

Impairment testing for cash generating units containing goodwill 

 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to one of the Group’s entities, which represent 
the lowest level within the Group (CGU) at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management 
purposes.  

 

The gross goodwill amount of 3,773 thousand of euro was allocated to BIODIZEL VUKOVAR d.o.o. (‘Biodizel’) 
which represents the main unit expected to benefit from synergies from the acquisition of business in 2012, 
from which this goodwill arose. Impairment testing of the Biodizel CGU was performed as at 31 December 
2016.  

 

It was not necessary to reassess Biodizel’s CGU for impairment as at 31 December 2019 as Biodizel stopped 
production and therefore generated no sales from 2016 to 2019.   

 

The gross goodwill amount of 338 thousand of euro was allocated to BPS Hubice, s.r.o.  upon acquisition by 
Poľnoservis, a.s. on 10 January 2017. Impairment testing of BPS Hubice, s.r.o CGU was performed as at 31 
December 2019 on based of which the Group decided to impair the goodwill in full. 

 

Cash Generating Unit BIODIZEL VUKOVAR d.o.o. 
 
Biodizel, was established in March 2006 (Company ID Nr. 25923991936). The headquarter of the Company 
is in Croatia, Vukovar, Težačka međa 2. The main activity of the Company is production of other basic 
organic chemicals, i.e., production of FAME (Fatty Acid Methyl Esters- methyl esters of fatty acids).  
 
During the year 2016 Biodizel ceased production and therefore generated no sales of biofuel due to the 
lower orders from customers, decrease of the oil prices on the global market and lack of applicable 
legislation for biofuel market in the condition of non-subsidised sales.  
Based on situation the Group decided to create an impairment for the property, plant and equipment in total  
amount of 2,126 thousand of euro in 2013, 2015 and 2016 
 
The strategic goal of Biodizel is to re-start the production again. The main goal is to ensure its long-term 
profitability and stable growth. At the moment, the Group is working intensively on finding new customers 
in the segment of industry and transport and plan to increase sales to smaller purchasers.  
 
When market improves and the necessary legal adjustments in line with the EU Directive for biofuel will be 
executed, blending will be adopted and applied and thus the Group will increase its warehouse capacity and 
make multi-feed production possible. In accordance to this, the Group certified individual calculation of GHS 
emission and obtained waste management licence which will provide a competitive advantage on this 
market. Waste management license will also ensure transition to production of the second generation of 
biofuels, biofuels produced from used cooking oil. 
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14. Property, plant and equipment 

 

As at 31 December 2019 the Group’s property, plant and equipment amounting to 53,859 thousand of euro 

(2018: 54,328 thousand of euro) was encumbered by right of lien or pledged in favour of banks (note 23). 
 

in thousands of euro                                                                                                                                                   

Land Buildings

Plant, 

equipment and 

fittings

Assets under 

construction

Assets held 

for sale Total

Cost

Balance as of 1 January 2018 3,365 68,426 128,572 4,498 - 204,861

Additions - 247 644 3,440 19 4,350

Disposals - - (391) (337) - (728)

Transfers 3 144 950 (1,097) - - 

Effect of exchange rate movements 5 7 15 - - 27

Balance as of 31 December 2018 3,373 68,824 129,790 6,504 19 208,510

Balance as of 1 January 2019 3,373 68,824 129,790 6,504 19 208,510

Additions 17 - 1,931 2,571 - 4,519

Disposals - (813) (4,189) (308) (6) (5,316)

Transfers - - 407 (407) - - 

Effect of exchange rate movements (5) (16) (15) - - (36)

Balance as of 31 December 2019 3,385 67,995 127,924 8,360 13 207,677

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses

Balance as of 1 January 2018 - (27,874) (102,791) - - (130,665)

Depreciation for the year - (3,046) (6,532) - - (9,578)

Disposals - - 328 - - 328

Impairment loss - - - - - - 

Effect of exchange rate movements - - - - - - 

Balance as of 31 December 2018 - (30,920) (108,995) - - (139,915)

Balance as of 1 January 2019 - (30,920) (108,995) - - (139,915)

Depreciation for the year - (3,970) (3,406) - - (7,376)

Disposals - 1,339 2,196 - - 3,535

Impairment loss - - - (3,059) - (3,059)

Effect of exchange rate movements - - - - - - 

Balance as of 31 December 2019 - (33,551) (110,205) (3,059) - (146,815)

Carrying amounts

Balance as of 1 January 2018 3,365 40,552 25,781 4,498 - 74,196

Balance as of 31 December 2018 3,373 37,904 20,795 6,504 19 68,577

Balance as of 1 January 2019 3,373 37,904 20,795 6,504 19 68,576

Balance as of 31 December 2019 3,385 34,444 17,719 5,301 13 60,862
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15. Right-of-use assets 

in thousands of euro
Land Buildings

Plant, 

equipment and 

fittings

Other assets Total

Balance as of 1 January 2019 523                    4,115                 3,367                 -                        8,005                 

Additions -                        896                    3,192                 41                      4,129                 

Disposals -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

Transfers -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

Balance as of 31 December 2019 523                    5,011                 6,559                 41                      12,134               

Accumulated amortisation and 

impairment losses

Balance as of 1 January 2019 -                        -                        -                        -                        - 

Depreciation for the year (65)                     (625) (1,994) (41) (2,725)

Disposals - - - - - 

Balance as of 31 December 2019 (65)                     (625)                   (1,994)                (41)                     (2,725)

Carrying amounts

Balance as of 1 January 2019 523 4,115 3,367 - 8,005

Balance as of 31 December 2019 458 4,386 4,565 - 9,409  
 

The cost relating to leases for which the Group applied the practical expedient described in paragraph 5a of the 

IFRS 16 (leases with the contract term of less than 12 months and leases where the underlying asset has a low 

value) were 75,533 euro.  
 

16. Equity accounted investees 
 

On 4 April 2012, the Group acquired a 50% shareholding in Ethanol Energy a. s., Czech Republic. This 50% share 

was acquired from a former sole owner of Ethanol Energy a. s. in order to form a joint venture. During the year 

ended 31 December 2013, the Group increased its share capital in Ethanol Energy, a.s. by 8,259 thousand of euro.  

 

Percentage ownership interest 50% 50%

in thousands of euro       2019 2018

Non-current assets 32,558         36,170         

Current assets 10,195         10,074         

Non-current liabilities -                  -                  

Current liabilities (5,313)          (12,757)        

Net assets (100%) 37,440         33,487         

Group share of net assets (50%) 18,720         16,744         

Application of equity method (7,678)          (7,452)          

Carrying amount of interest in joint venture 11,042         9,292           

Revenue 49,179         21,046         

Depreciation and amortisation (3,331)          (3,188)          

Interest expense (258)            (63)              

Income tax expense (846)            938              

Total comprehensive income (100%) 3,501           (4,158)          

Total comprehensive income (50%) 1,750           (2,079)          

Elimination of unrealised profit on downstream sales -                  -                  

Group´s share of profit/(loss) and other comprehensive income 1,750           (2,079)           
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17. Financial assets and liabilites 
 

Carrying amount of financial 

instruments                                                                                                                  

2019

in euro

FVTPL

hedge 

accounting

amortised 

cost FVTOCI*

Financial asset

Other non-current financial assets

Equity instruments -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Loans given 1,305              -                      -                      1,305              -                      1,305              

Deposit (Long-term) 135                 -                      -                      135                 -                      135                 

Financial lease receivables -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total non-current financial assets 1,440              -                      -                      1,440              -                      1,440              

Trade receivables 62,315            -                      -                      62,315            -                      62,315            

Financial lease receivables -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Cash and cash equivalents 62,437            -                      -                      62,437            -                      62,437            

Debt securities -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other current financial assets

Commodity derivates -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Loans given 5,240              -                      -                      5,240              -                      5,240              

Deposit (Short-term) 129                 -                      -                      129                 -                      129                 

Foreign exchange derivates -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other 10,820            -                      -                      10,820            -                      10,820            

Total current financial assets 140,941          -                      -                      140,941          -                      140,941          

Total financial assets 142,380          -                      -                      142,380          -                      142,380          

Financial liabilities

Borrowings (Long-term debt) (4,884)             -                      -                      (4,884)             -                      (4,884)             

Financial lease liabilities (7,247)             -                      -                      (7,247)             -                      (7,247)             

Other non-current financial liabilities
Foreign exchange derivates -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other (98)                  -                      -                      (98)                  -                      (98)                  

Total non-current financial liabilities (12,229)           -                      -                      (12,229)           -                      (12,229)           

Trade and other payables (41,524)           -                      -                      (41,524)           -                      (41,524)           

Borrowings (Short-term debt) (87,600)           -                      -                      (87,600)           -                      (87,600)           

Financial lease liabilities (2,242)             -                      -                      (2,242)             -                      (2,242)             

Other current financial liabilities

Transferred shares -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Commodity derivates -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Foreign exchange derivates -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other derivates -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other (19,910)           -                      -                      (19,910)           -                      (19,910)           

Total current financial liabilities (151,276)         -                      -                      (151,276)         -                      (151,276)         

Total financial liabilities (163,505)         -                      -                      (163,505)         -                      (163,505)         

*FVTOCI: Fair value through other comprehensive income

Total carrying 

amount

Net carrying 

amount

Fair value 

through profit 

or loss

Derivates 

used for 

hedging

Loans and 

receivables 

and liabilities 

at amortised 

Available 

for-sale
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Carrying amount of financial 

instruments                                                                                                                  

2018

in euro

FVTPL

hedge 

accounting amortised cost FVTOCI*

Financial asset

Other non-current financial assets -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Equity instruments -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Loans given -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Deposit (Long-term) 137                 -                      -                      137                 -                      137                 

Financial lease receivables -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total non-current financial assets 136                 -                      -                      136                 -                      136                 

Trade receivables 55,612            -                      -                      55,612            -                      55,612            

Financial lease receivables -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Cash and cash equivalents 38,115            -                      -                      38,115            -                      38,115            

Debt securities -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other current financial assets -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Commodity derivates -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Loans given 1,643              -                      -                      1,643              -                      1,643              

Deposit (Short-term) -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Foreign exchange derivates -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other 3,543              -                      -                      3,543              -                      3,543              

Total current financial assets 98,913            -                      -                      98,913            -                      98,913            

Total financial assets 99,050            -                      -                      99,050            -                      99,050            

Financial liabilities

Borrowings (Long-term debt) (799)                -                      -                      (799)                -                      (799)                

Financial lease liabilities -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other non-current financial liabilities

Foreign exchange derivates -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other (75)                  -                      -                      (75)                  -                      (75)                  

Total non-current financial liabilities (874)                -                      -                      (874)                -                      (874)                

Trade and other payables (26,298)           -                      -                      (26,298)           -                      (26,298)           

Borrowings (Short-term debt) (76,675)           -                      -                      (76,675)           -                      (76,675)           

Financial lease liabilities -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other current financial liabilities

Transferred shares -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Commodity derivates -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Foreign exchange derivates -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other derivates -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Other (20,080)           -                      -                      (20,080)           -                      (20,080)           

Total current financial liabilities (123,053)         -                      -                      (123,053)         -                      (123,053)         

Total financial liabilities (123,927)         -                      -                      (123,927)         -                      (123,927)         

*FVTOCI: Fair value through other comprehensive income

Total carrying 

amount

Net carrying 

amount

Fair value 

through profit 

or loss

Derivates 

used for 

hedging

Loans and 

receivables 

and liabilities 

at amortised 

Available 

for-sale
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Hedging activities and derivates 

ENVIEN TRADING, which is a part of the Group, trades in commodities and derivatives on the financial markets. 

Two types of products are approved for trading – products with physical delivery and derivatives. Products with 

physical delivery are traded via brokers with different counterparties over the counter (trade under individual 

conditions, outside of the stock exchange) and on Intercontinental Exchange, commodity exchange based in 

London. Derivates are traded solely on the Intercontinental exchange, commodity exchange based in London. All 

the products approved for trading are denominated in USD.  

 

Products with physical delivery approved for trading are: 

• Argus Biodiesel Fame0 

• Argus Biodiesel RME 

• UCOME (Used Cooking Oil Methyl Ester) 

• FOB Dutch Mill (Repassed Oil) 

Derivates approved for trading are: 

• Argus Biodiesel RME FOB Rotterdam (RED Compliant) vs. Low Sulphur Gasoil 1st Line Future 

• Argus Biodiesel Fame Zero FOB Rotterdam (RED Compliant) vs. Low Sulphur Gasoil 1st Line Future 

• Low Sulphur Gasoil 1st Line Future 

 

At the balance sheet date, the group reported open derivative positions fair valued at 2,250 of euro, which is 

reported in short-term receivables. The result is reported in financial income in the Consolidated statement of 

profit and loss and other comprehensive income. 

 

18. Inventories 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 59,848         52,306         

Work in progress and semi-finished products 696              1,202           

Finished products 15,132         8,983           

Merchandise 5                 11               

Total inventories, net 75,681         62,502          
As at 31 December 2019 the Group’s inventories amounting to 26,964 thousand of euro (2018: 25,823 

thousand of euro) were encumbered by right of lien or pledged in favour of banks (note 23). 

 

19. Trade and other receivables 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Non-current -                  -                  

Current

Trade receivables 61,137         55,103         

Advance payments 2,972           3,022           

Other receivables 1,178           785              

Accrued revenues 31               4                 

Total current, trade and other receivables 65,318         58,914          
 

As at 31 December 2019 the Group’s receivables amounting to 52,378 thousand of euro (2018: 38,396 thousand 

of euro) were encumbered by right of lien or pledged in favour of banks (note 23). 

 

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recognised a doubtful debt allowance of 275 thousand of euro (2018: 275 

thousand of euro) in respect to a receivable due from a local regulator due to disputes with the regulator. The 



Envien International Limited     Consolidated financial statements 2019 

Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2019 

 

38 

 

 

Group classified this allowance as a non - deductible tax expense and did not recognise the deferred tax asset arising 

on this transaction as at 31 December 2019. 

 

The Group’s exposure to credit and market risk, and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables, 

are disclosed in Note 28. The Group’s exposure to receivables arising from transactions with related parties is 

disclosed in Note 29.  

 

20. Other current assets 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Tax receivables (indirect taxes - VAT, etc.) 6,776           3,080           

Prepaid expenses 213              246              

Loans given 5,240           -                  

Other current assets 4,173           2,105           

Total other current assets 16,402         5,431            
 

21. Cash and cash equivalents 

in thousands of euro Note 2019 2018

Cash in hand 39               40               

Cash in bank 62,398         38,075         

Total cash and cash equivalents 62,437         38,115         

Bank overdrafts 23 (84,595)        (74,341)        

Total cash and cash equivalents as presented

in statement of Cash Flow (22,158)        (36,226)         
 

22. Issued capital and reserves 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Ordinary shares of euro 1 each 6,000           6,000           

Share capital 6,000           6,000           

 
 

At 31 December 2019, the Company’s authorised and issued share capital comprised 6,000 thousand of 

euro (2018: 6,000 thousand of euro) ordinary shares of 1 euro each. All issued shares are fully paid.  

 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 

entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with respect to the 

Company’s residual assets. 

 

Capital contributions 
These amounts represent non-reciprocal contributions made by the Company’s shareholders which are 
unsecured, bear no interest and are irrevocable. 

  

Translation reserve 

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial 

statements of foreign operations. This reserve is not available for distribution to equity holders. 
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Legal reserve 

This reserve is not available for distribution to shareholders, and is used to cover losses or to effect further 

increases in the Company’s share capital.  

 

Dividends 

During the year ended 31 December 2019, dividends of 13,185 thousand of euro, representing 2,20 euro per 

qualifying share (2018: dividends 3,572 thousand of euro, representing 0,59 euro per qualifying share) were 

declared and will be paid as follows: 

 

in thousands of euro 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018

Dividends recognised this year:

Fossile Bio Investment PTE Ltd 3,098           841              

International Renewable Investment PTE Ltd 3,890           1,049           

Liquid Bio Investment PTE Ltd 3,098           841              

International Biofuel Investment PTE Ltd 3,098           841              

Total dividends declared 13,185         3,572            
 
 
Shareholders 

Company Name as in Business Register Fossile Bio Investment PTE Ltd

Country Republic of Singapore

City Singapore

Shareholdings in absolute terms (in thousands of euro) 1,412

Shareholdings in % 23.53

Voting rights in % 23.53

Company Name as in Business Register International Renewable Investment PTE Ltd

Country Republic of Singapore

City Singapore

Shareholdings in absolute terms (in thousands of euro) 1,764

Shareholdings in % 29.41

Voting rights in % 29.41

Company Name as in Business Register Liquid Bio Investment PTE Ltd

Country Republic of Singapore

City Singapore

Shareholdings in absolute terms (in thousands of euro) 1,412

Shareholdings in % 23.53

Voting rights in % 23.53

Company Name as in Business Register International Biofuel Investment PTE Ltd

Country Republic of Singapore

City Singapore

Shareholdings in absolute terms (in thousands of euro) 1,412

Shareholdings in % 23.53

Voting rights in % 23.53  
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Non-controlling interests 

The following table summarises the information relating to each of the Group´s subsidiaries that has 

material NCI, before any intra-group eliminations.   

 

MEROCO, 

a.s.

ROSSI Biofuel,     

Zrt.

Polnoservis, 

a.s.

Intra-group 

eliminations Total

NCI percentage 25% 25% 39,39%

Non-current assets 20,206 4,358 11,231

Current assets 25,317 61,316 13,312

Non-current liabilities (22) (1 378) (2,028)

Current liabilities (28,846) (8,461) (9,973)

Net assets 16,655 55,835 12,542

Net assets attributable to NCI 4,216 14,236 5,086 23,538

Revenue 110,356 162,734 93 585

Profit 2,054 14,328 1,387

Total comprehensive income 2,054 14,328 1,387

Profit allocate to NCI 514 3 582 546 4,642

Cash flows from operating activities (2,008) 2,949 (1,579)

Cash flows from investment activities (301) (737) (605)

Cash flows from financing activities 949 - 2,184

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 

equivalents (1 360) 2 212 - 

31 December 2019                          
in thousand of euro

 
 

 

31 December 2018                            
in thousands of euro

MEROCO, 

a.s.

ROSSI Biofuel,     

Zrt.

Polnoservis, 

a.s.

Intra-group 

eliminations Total

NCI percentage 25% 25% 39,39%

Non-current assets 21,766 4,030 11,655

Current assets 25,593 59,547 13,654

Non-current liabilities (160) (19) (1,968)

Current liabilities (30,599) (9,052) (11,836)

Net assets 16,600 54,506 11,505

Carrying amunt of NCI 4,202 13,905 4,539 22,646

Revenue 107,187 151,479 95,898

Profit 2,780 13,677 1,467

Total comprehensive income 2,780 13,677 1,467

Profit allocate to NCI 695 3,417 578 4 690

Cash flows from operating activities 3,460 1,552 3,513

Cash flows from investment activities (102) (1 018) (415)

Cash flows from financing activities (3,836) - (3,100)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 

equivalents (478) 534 2  
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23. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Non-current portion 12,131         799              

Loans and borrowings 4,884           799              

Lease liabilites 7,247           -

Current portion 89,842         76,675         

Loans and borrowings 87,600         76,675         

Lease liabilites 2,242           -

Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings 101,973       77,474          
 

Interest rate Due dates

2019 2018

Secured bank loan Euribor 3M + 1,35% 30.09.2020 637              799              

Secured bank loan Euribor 3M + 1,35% 30.09.2020 160              158              

Secured bank loan Euribor 1M + 1,55% 30.09.2024 4,884           -                  

Secured overdraft Euribor 1M + 1,0% 30.09.2020 35,170         27,332         

Secured overdraft Euribor 1M + 1,0% 31.01.2020 18,380         23,425         

Secured overdraft Euribor 1M + 0,85% 30.09.2020 7,181           4,280           

Secured overdraft Euribor 1M + 0,85% 30.09.2020 4,070           6,019           

Secured overdraft Euribor 1M + 0.80% 30.09.2019 -                  3                 

Secured overdraft Euribor 1M + 1,00% 31.01.2020 9,506           9,005           

Secured overdraft Euribor 1M + 0,85% 31.01.2020 6,462           4,277           

Secured overdraft Based on formula On demand 3,826           -                  

Credit card 5                 4                 

Total bank loans and borrowings 90,281         75,302         

Related party loan Euribor 1M + 0,85% 30.10.2020 2,203           2,172           

Total other loans 2,203           2,172           

Total loans and borrowings 92,484         77,474         

Carrying amount
Bank loans 

and borrowings

  
All loans are denominated in currency euro. 

 

Lease liability 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Non-current portion 7,247           -                  

Current portion 2,242           -                  

Total lease liability 9,489           -                   
 

Bank borrowings are secured by property, plant and equipment (note 15), inventories (note 18) and trade and 

other receivables (Note 19). 

 

24. Deferred investment grants 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Non-current portion of investment grant 1,449           1,627           

Current portion of investment grant 179              186              

Total deferred investment grants 1,628           1,813            
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During 2009 and 2010 Poľnoservis, a.s. (Slovakia) received a government grant of 4,720 thousand of euro related 

to the acquisition costs of property, plant and equipment. The subject of the grant was construction of a plant and 

implementation of production technologies for processing of rape seeds into rapeseed oil. Poľnoservis, a.s. 

(Slovakia) has an obligation to fulfil certain administrative conditions after the project completion. The grant 

received is recorded as an investment grant and is being amortised over the estimated useful life of the property, 

plant and equipment for which it has been granted once such assets are placed into use, on average ten years.  

The movement during the year is credited to depreciation expense account. 
 

25. Trade and other payables 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Trade payables 40,856         25,656         

Accruals 175              36               

Unbilled supplies 264              -                  

Other 229              606              

Total trade and other payables 41,524         26,298          
 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-60 day terms.  
 

26. Other current liabilities 

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

Dividend liabilities to sharehoholders 15,233         15,283         

Employee benefits 1,039           974              

Employee social costs due to state authorities 476              406              

Tax liabilities (indirect taxes - VAT, etc.) 2,718           3,147           

Other current liabilities 444              270              

Total other current liabilities, including derivatives 19,910         20,080          
 

27. Deferred tax assets and liability 

in thousands of euro

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Property, plant and equipment 78         4           (2,521)   (3,124)   (2,443)   (3,120)   

Impairment charges -            -            (894)      -            (894)      -            

Other temporary differences -            -            (15)        (238)      (15)        (238)      

Net tax assets (liabilities) 78         4           (3,430)   (3,362)   (3,352)   (3,358)   

Assets Liabilities Net

 
 
 

28. Financial instruments and financial risk management 
 

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments: 

▪ credit risk 

▪ liquidity risk 

▪ market risk. 

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s 

objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. 
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28.1 Risk management framework 

The Group’s management has the overall responsibility for the oversight of the risk management framework, 

which is governed by policies and procedures established at each of the Group entities. Management has 

implemented corporate risk management policies to identify and analyse, at the level of each individual Group 

entity, the risks faced by the individual Group entities, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor 

risks and adherence to limits.  

 

The carrying value of financial assets and liabilities classified according to the individual categories of the 

statement of financial position is as described Financial assets and Financial liabilities Note 17.  

 

All recognised items in the statement of financial position except for loans and borrowings and lease liabilities 

are predominantly short term in nature, as a result, the carrying amount at the end of the reporting period 

approximates the fair value of these items. All loans and borrowings bear a variable interest rate or have a short 

re-pricing periods; therefore, their fair values as at the reporting date are deemed to approximate their carrying 

amounts.  

28.2 Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 

meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and balances 

with counterparty banks. 

 

The credit risk of the Group related to trade receivables is managed by the credit managers under the rules and 

credit management guidelines of the individual entities. There exists an established credit policy under which 

each new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the standard payment and delivery 

terms are offered. 

 

The ageing of receivables at the reporting date was: 

 

in thousands of euro Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

2019 2019 2018 2018

Not past due 40,981    -                46,674    -                

Past due 0-30 days 20,868    -                3,742     -                

Past due 31-60 days 13          -                3,314     -                

Past due 61-90 days 2            -                -            -                

Past due 91-180 days 2            -                1,214     -                

Past due 180-365 days 39          -                378        -                

More than one year 685        275           565        275           

Total 62,590    275           55,887    275            
 

In order to reduce credit risk, the Group also makes use of insurance of receivables in selected countries and for 

selected customers where a higher risk of uncollectibility is assessed. Additionally, for specific customers or 

countries, secure payment instruments such as payment in advance, or bank guarantees and documentary letters 

of credit are used. 

 

The Group accounts for allowances which represent its estimate of losses arising from trade or other receivables 

due to individual risk of uncollectibility, bankrupt customers and legal disputes with customers.  
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Exposure to credit risk 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to 

credit risk at the end of the reporting period was as follows: 

 

Analysis of unimpaired loans given (short-term / long-term) Note

in thousands of euro

2019 2018

Loans given not yet due and not impaired 17 6,545           1,643           

Loans given past due and not impaired -                  -                  

up to 30 days -                  -                  

over 30 days -                  -                  

Total 6,545           1,643           

Net carrying amount

 
As at 31 December 2019 and as at 31 December 2018 no loans were impaired.  

 

Analysis of unimpaired trade receivables             Note

in thousands of euro

2019 2018

Trade receivables not yet due and not impaired 17 40,981         46,674         

Trade receivables past due and not impaired 17 20,924         8,938           

up to 30 days 20,868         3,742           

over 30 days 56               5,196           

Total 61,905         55,612         

Net carrying amount

 
 

Analysis of impaired trade receivables             Note

in thousands of euro 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Trade receivables not yet due and impaired -         -         -         -         -         -         

Trade receivables past due and impaired 685     565     (275)    (275)    410     290     

up to 360 days -         -         -         -         -         -         

over 360 days 17 685     565     (275)    (275)    410     290     

Total 685     565     (275)    (275)    410     290     

Nominal value Impairment
Net carrying 

amount

 
 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. 

However, management also considers the default risk of the country in which customers operate, as this factor 

may have an influence on credit risk. 

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the end of the reporting period by type of 

counterparty was as follows: 

Note

in thousands of euro 2019 2018

MOL  Hungarian Oil and Gas Plc. and SLOVNAFT, a.s. 28 17,996           29,218           

Other customers 44,319           26,394           

Total 62,315           55,612           

Carrying amount
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The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the end of the reporting period by geographic 

region was as follows: 

 

in thousands of euro

2019 2018

Slovakia 26,649         33,141         

Hungary 8,065           9,463           

Czech Republic 3,876           6,908           

Swiss confederation 4,668           78               

Austria 6,128           1,281           

United Kingdom 5,295           -                  

Other countries 7,634           4,741           

Total 62,315         55,612         

Carrying amount

 
 

 

 

 

28.3 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 

liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach is that any 

individual entity should always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 

stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 

 

The Group ensures that it has sufficient disposable funds available to meet expected operational expenses, 

including the servicing of financial obligations. For this purpose, it has credit lines with banks available and also 

has borrowings available from its related parties, from which it has immediately available funds, if needed. 

 

- 5,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 25,000 30,000 35,000

Swiss confederation

Czech Republic

Other countries

Austria

United Kingdom

Hungary

Slovakia

EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK BY GEOGRAPHIC REGION
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2018

2019
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To manage the seasonally fluctuating cash flows, both short-term and long-term finance is raised in the course of 

day-to-day financial management at each individual combined entity level. 

 

The following are contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and 

excluding the impact of netting agreements as at: 

Analysis of liquidity risk

in thousands of euro 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

on demand (3,826)                    - -                           - (3,826)                    - 

up to 1 month (79,987)         (63,005) -                           - (79,987)       (63,005)

from 1 to 3 month (197)             (20,080) -                           - (197)            (20,080)

from 3 to 12 month (67,491)         (39,968) -                           - (67,491)       (39,968)

from 1 to 5 years (10,339)               (75) -                           - (10,339)              (75)

over 5 years (1,665)               (799) -                           - (1,665)              (799)

without maturity -                             - -                           - -                            - 

Total (163,505)     (123,927) -                           - (163,505)    (123,927)

Total

Financial liabilities 

measured at amortised 

cost

Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit and 

loss

 
 

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at 

significantly different amounts. 

 

28.4 Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect 

the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management 

is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the related 

return.  

 

The Group does not enter into commodity contracts other than to meet the Group’s expected usage and sale 

requirements; such contracts are not settled in cash. Risks of price changes arise primarily through the 

procurement of raw materials and the sale of end products. Price risks are not hedged through any financial 

instruments. 
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Currency risk 

At each individual Group entity level, where relevant, the Group monitors on a regular basis the currency position 

in relation to all significant foreign currencies in which it has liabilities or receivables. 

 

in thousands of euro

Trade receivables 47,179      2,705       2,490       1              -               9,940       62,315     

Loans given 6,545        -               -               -               -               -               6,545       

Cash at bank 61,574      315          228          268          12            1              62,398     

Bank deposits 264           -               -               -               -               -               264          

Cash on hand 20             1              -               15            -               3              39            

Other cash equivalents -                -               -               -               -               -               -               

Other financial asset 19,592      -               2,150       119          -               -               21,861     

Total financial asset 135,174    3,021       4,868       403          12            9,944       153,422   

Trade and other payables (31,655)     -               (2,022)      (9)             (56)           (7,782)      (41,524)    

Borrowings (83,774)     -               -               -               -               (8,710)      (92,484)    

Financial lease liabilities (9,489)       -               -               -               -               -               (9,489)      

Other (19,848)     -               (150)         (10)           -               -               (20,008)    

Total financial liabilities (144,766)   -               (2,172)      (19)           (56)           (16,492)    (163,505)  

2019 Total EUR CZK HUF HRK CHF USD

 
 

 

in thousands of euro

Trade receivables 47,821      5,695       -               2              2,094       -               55,612     

Loans given 1,643        -               -               -               -               -               1,643       

Cash at bank 35,527      2,116       22            406          1              3              38,074     

Bank deposits -                -               -               -               -               -               -               

Cash on hand -                -               -               -               -               -               -               

Other cash equivalents 35             -               5              -               -               -               40            

Other financial asset 1,966        -               1,181       101          294          -               3,542       

Total financial asset 86,992      7,811       1,208       509          2,389       3              98,911     

Trade and other payables (21,796)     (774)         (3,692)      (12)           (16)           (8)             (26,298)    

Borrowings (77,474)     -               -               -               -               -               (77,474)    

Financial lease liabilities -                -               -               -               -               -               -               

Other (19,939)     -               (200)         (5)             (11)           -               (20,155)    

Total financial liabilities (119,209)   (774)         (3,892)      (17)           (27)           (8)             (123,927)  

2018 Total EUR CZK HUF HRK CHF USD
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Exchange rates
applied during the year

2019 2018 2019 2018

Hungarian Forint (HUF 100) 0.307 0.314 0.303 0.312

Croatian Kuna (HRK) 0.135 0.135 0.134 0.135

Czech Koruna (CZK) 0.039 0.039 0.039 0.039

Swiss Franc (CHF) 0.899 0.866 0.921 0.887

US Dollar (USD) 0.894 0.847 0.890 0.873

Average rate Reporting date spot rate

 
 

Sensitivity analysis 

A strengthening (weakening) of the euro, as indicated below, against the Hungarian forint (HUF) and Croatian 
kuna (HRK) and Czech koruna (CZK) and Swiss franc (CHF) at 31 December 2019 would have increased 
(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis is based on foreign currency 
exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be reasonably possible at the reporting date. The analysis 
assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores any impact of forecasted 
sales and purchases.  

The analysis is performed on the same basis for the year 2019 (at 31 December 2018), albeit that the reasonably 
possible foreign exchange rate variances were different, as indicated below. 

 

 

Effect in thousands euro

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

HUF (10% movement) (245)    244 (245)    244 300      (298) 300      (298)

HRK (10% movement) (35)      (45) (35)      (45) 43       55 43       55 

CZK (10% movement) (275)    (639) (275)    (639) 336      781 336      781 

CHF (10% movement) 4         (215) 4         (215) (5)        262 (51)      262 

USD (10% movement) 589      - 589      - (720)    - (720)    - 

Strengthening Weakening

Equity Profit or loss Equity Profit or loss

 
 

The Group does not actively trade with derivatives. During the year ended 31 December 2019 the Group did 

not enter into any currency derivatives operations for hedging its currency position. 

 

Interest rate risk 

The Group does not actively trade with derivatives. During the year ended 31 December 2019 the Group entered 

into interest rate swap derivatives operations for hedging its interest exposure. These amounts are not 

significant.  

 
An increase/decrease in the interest rate by 100 basis points would decrease/increase the profit for the 
reporting period by 925 thousand of euro (2018: by 775 thousand of euro). This analysis assumes that other 
variables remain unchanged.   

28.5 Fair value 

The fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost is not materially different from their 
carrying amount. 
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29. Related parties 
 

Transactions with related parties 2019 2018

in thousands of euro

Purchase-Services 8,769             9,262             

Purchase-Material 7,350             32,047           

Sales-Services 259                11                  

Sales-Finished goods, and goods bought for resale 174,545         228,715         

Of that: MOL Hungarian Oil and Gas Plc. and SLOVNAFT, a.s. 172,960         225,988         

Dividends declared 825                3,572             

Dividends paid 3,750             -                     

Assets and liabilities arising from transactions

with related parties

in thousands of euro

Trade accounts receivable 18,065           30,207           

Of that: MOL Hungarian Oil and Gas Plc. and SLOVNAFT, a.s. 17,996           29,218           

Trade accounts payable 3,581             1,850             

Loans received 2,203             2,172             

Loans provided 4,700             1,111             

 
30. Commitments and contingent liabilities 

 

The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet commenced as at 31 December 2019. The future lease 

payments for these non-cancellable lease contracts are 13,028 euro within one year and 54,752 within five years.  

 

31. Events after the reporting date 
 

COVID-19 pandemic 

 

In late 2019, news first appeared in China regarding the SARS-CoV-2 virus pandemic, which is causing 
COVID-19. In the first months of 2020, the virus started to spread globally and caused extensive economic 
damage. The group reacted swiftly to the sharp increase in demand for disinfectants and in a very short 
period redirected a substantial part of bioethanol production to the disinfection sector. Therefore, 
significantly contributing to announced emergency measures to prevent the spread of the virus pandemic, 
including humanitarian aid. 

 

The Group's management will continue to monitor the potential impact of a viral pandemic and will take all 
possible measures to mitigate any future effects on the Group and its employees. The current situation does 
not have a significant impact on the business activities and does not have any effect on the going concern 
assumption.  
 
Reduction of share capital in subsidiary 
 
In July 2020, the General Meeting approved a reduction in the share capital of Ethanol Energy, a.s. from 1,014,974 
thousands CZK to 847,928 thousands CZK. 
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